**RECEIVED**

**Feb 12 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Cherokee County

Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BOBBIE JO BAYNARD,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001941

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Deputy Chief Attorney for Capital Appeals

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

1.

Where the State pled a higher mental state than normally required for murder in the indictment that it failed to prove, did the trial judge err in refusing to direct a verdict on appellant's murder charge?

2.

Did the trial court err in refusing to direct a verdict on the charge of infliction of great bodily injury because the state proved only neglect and the statute requires an affirmative act and intent?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Bobbie Jo Baynard was indicted in Cherokee County for murder, infliction of great bodily injury on a child, and unlawful conduct toward a child and on October 28, 2024, was tried before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly and a jury. R. 1. Appellant was tried along with her husband and son who were charged with the same crimes. R. 2. Barry Barnette and Jennifer Jordan represented the State. R. 2. Robin File represented appellant. R. 2. Tracy and Russ Racine represented appellant's husband. R. 2. Michael Morin, Abigail Gowdy, and Eva Waszak represented appellant's son. The jury convicted all three defendants. R. 417-418. Judge Kelly sentenced appellant to life imprisonment for murder, a consecutive twenty years' imprisonment for infliction of great bodily injury on a child, and a consecutive ten years' imprisonment for unlawful conduct toward a child. R. 433. This appeal follows.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The issues on appeal involve a mixed standard of review. When the failure of a trial court to direct a verdict is challenged because of a lack of evidence, that decision is reviewed for the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight, and the evidence and inferences are viewed in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 781 S.E.2d 352 (2016). This directed verdict appeal also involves the purely legal issues of construction of statutes and an indictment, which are reviewed de novo. State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 732 S.E.2d 861 (2012).

## ARGUMENT

1.

Where the State pled a higher mental state than normally required for murder in the indictment that it failed to prove, the trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict on appellant's murder charge.

The State indicted Appellant, her husband, and her son for three charges stemming from the death of appellant's fourteen-year old daughter, Minor: murder, infliction of great bodily injury upon a child, and unlawful conduct towards a child. R. 436. Minor died under horrific circumstances that were not contested at trial. Minor was a non-ambulatory special needs child who succumbed to sepsis after weeks of neglect. R. 243-250. All four members of the family lived in a house filled with trash, dogs, cats, used diapers, human and animal urine and feces, and insects. R. 84-101.

Appellant admitted to neglect during pre-trial arguments. R. 25. She admitted neglect in her opening statement to the jury. R. 45. She admitted to "an aggravated case of neglect" in her closing statement. R. 382. But appellant denied she had the requisite mental state for murder as it was indicted in this case. R. 381-382.

The solicitor admitted during pre-trial arguments that he thought the proper charge was homicide by child abuse, but because Minor was over eleven years old, he could not use that statute and instead indicted appellant for murder. R. 21-22. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-85 (limiting homicide by child abuse to deaths of children under eleven). The language used by the State to indict appellant for murder in this case is pivotal. See State v. Dent, 446 S.C. 121, 919 S.E.2d 394, (2025), (holding variance existed between proof at trial and language of indictment). The indictment states in relevant part that appellant, "did in Cherokee County at their home . . . on or

about April 11, 2022, feloniously, **willfully**, and with malice aforethought, express or implied, cause the death of [Minor]. . . .” R. 436.

Appellant joined her husband’s arguments at directed verdict. R. 330-331. The directed verdict arguments regarding murder and infliction of bodily injury upon a child (raised in Issue Two) must be read together. R. 311-331. Appellant’s trial counsel summarized their argument on murder: “And, and as far as the murder indictment, it does—the State is bound by the language of the indictments which requires a willful act and it’d be our argument that they have failed—the evidence, as presented by the State, has failed to prove those elements. . . .” R. 330-331. By pleading willfulness, the State imposed upon itself the duty to prove a higher mental state and specific intent. R. 311-331. Appellants both argued that the State’s evidence only showed neglect. R. 311-331.

The solicitor’s response is a catalogue of omissions and neglect by the defendants, but fails to point out any willful act or specific intent to cause Minor’s death. R. 311-331. He referenced the “depraved heart” standard of malice from State v. Mouzon, 231 S.C. 655, 99 S.E.2d 672 (1957). R. 318. The solicitor summed up his argument by saying, “And, Your Honor, they didn’t do what they were required to as parents in this situation in taking care of that child as well as the caregiver of the brother in this case.” R. 319. Trial counsel for appellant’s husband adroitly responded, “What the solicitor just said is that, essentially, they neglected her to death. But these facts, as bad as they are, they showed criminal negligence. They, they don’t show intent.” R. 320. The trial judge denied the directed verdict motion. R. 345-346.

South Carolina recognizes four levels of culpable mental states. State v. Jeffries, 316 S.C. 13, 17-18, 446 S.E.2d 427, 429-30 (1994) *compare* United States v. Clemons, 442 S.C. 670, 674, 901 S.E.2d 280, 282 (2024) (“South Carolina has not wholesale adopted the federal hierarchy

of mental states, nor does South Carolina verbatim employ the definitions of purpose, knowledge, recklessness, or negligence found in [Borden v. United States, 593 U.S. 420 (2021).”] The four states, ranked in order of difficulty of proof, are purpose, knowledge, recklessness, and negligence. Id. “‘Purpose’ is the highest level of *mens rea* known in criminal law. . . .” Id. By adding “willfully” to the indictment, the State pled itself into the highest level of *mens rea*.

Murder is normally a general intent crime, but the addition of “willfully” to the indictment transformed murder in this case into a specific intent crime. See State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 54-64, 810 S.E.2d 18, 22-27 (2017) (defining attempted murder as a specific intent crime). The King Court described specific intent as the “highest possible mental state for criminal attempt.” Id. While this case does not deal with an attempt crime, the recognition in King that specific intent is the highest possible mental state shows that by using “willfully” in the indictment, the State required itself to prove specific intent. Under King, specific intent means consciously intending a result. Id. “Willful” has been defined in the context of contempt as indicating a requirement of specific intent. State v. Sowell, 370 S.C. 330, 336, 635 S.E.2d 81, 83 (2006). Gross negligence and recklessness are lower mental states because the actor does not intend the result.

The solicitor’s continued references to the homicide by child abuse statute is also instructive because it shows that a higher mental state must be required for murder. The mental state required for homicide by child abuse is “extreme indifference to human life.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-85(A)(1). Murder—especially as pled in this case—must require a higher mental state than extreme indifference to human life. Extreme indifference “based on omission” has only been found “in extraordinary circumstances” in South Carolina. Rivers v. State, 446 S.C. 1, 13, 916 S.E.2d 335, 342 (2025). If omissions and failure to act are only available in extraordinary

circumstances under the lower mental state of extreme indifference, then omissions cannot form the basis of proof of the higher mental state of specific intent.

The solicitor relied on Mouzon malice both at the directed verdict stage and in his closing argument. R. 318. R. 375-376. He told the jury that malice “signifies a general, malignant, recklessness of lives and safety of others.” R. 376. “Implied malice is when circumstances demonstrate a wanton or reckless disregard for human life and I submit to you this is reckless disregard for the human life of [Minor] or a prudently person, man or person, would have known that, according to common experiences, that were the plain strong likely that death would of follow the contemplated act.” R. 376. The solicitor’s argument on the element of malice paraphrases and quotes from Mouzon. See Mouzon at 662-63, 99 S.E.2d 672, 675-76.

Mouzon was the first case in South Carolina dealing with a murder conviction arising from the operation of an automobile. Id. “The facts in a motor vehicle accident will rarely sustain a conviction of murder, since the element of malice is usually missing.” Id. The defendant in Mouzon was intoxicated and driving at more than twice the speed limit when he struck and killed a pedestrian. Id. The Mouzon Court sustained the conviction and adopted the wanton and reckless disregard standard as a definition of malice. Id. The Court also noted that Mouzon’s sentence of life imprisonment seemed “severe where there is no actual intent to kill or injure” but was required by the statute at the time. Id. at 663, 99 S.E.2d at 676.

By importing recklessness into the definition of murder, Mouzon lowers the level of proof of mental state required for murder. But by adding “willfully” to the indictment, the State pled itself out of Mouzon malice. The *mens rea* required in this case has to be higher than the extreme indifference that includes acts of omission and higher than Mouzon malice. The *mens rea* required here was specific intent to kill Minor. The State’s proof was only of extreme neglect and

indifference and did not rise to the level of specific intent. The State never proved a single overt act taken by appellant that caused Minor's death. The State only proved failure to act, which is indifference or recklessness, but not specific intent. The Court should direct a verdict of acquittal on murder. The case should then be remanded for a new trial on the lesser-included offense Judge Kelly charged to the jury: involuntary manslaughter. R. 407-408.

2.

The trial court erred in refusing to direct a verdict on the charge of infliction of great bodily injury because the state proved only neglect and the statute requires an affirmative act and intent.

The statute under which appellant was indicted is called "Infliction or allowing infliction of great bodily injury upon a child." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-95. The statute reads, "It is unlawful to inflict great bodily injury upon a child." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-95(A). Because the word "inflict" requires an affirmative physical act instead of omissions and neglect, the trial judge erred in not granting a directed verdict.

Appellant and her husband focused their directed verdict arguments on the verb "inflict." R. 310-316. R. 330-331. The verb "inflict" meant the statute required an intent to cause injury. R. 315. As argued in Issue One above, the State only proved neglect. Appellant was convicted of criminal neglect by the jury under the Unlawful Conduct Toward a Child charge, which is not contested in this appeal. Judge Kelly found that "inflict" could mean "to impose anything unwelcomed" or "to force someone to experience something very unpleasant or to cause something very unpleasant to be endured." R. 345.

The trial judge erred in finding that the definition of “inflict” encompassed the neglect shown by the State. The State’s proof failed because it did not show any affirmative act evidencing an intent to cause great bodily injury. In a case similar to Dent, the State used the term “inflicted” in an indictment for homicide by child abuse even though infliction is not required by the statute. Bailey v. State, 392 S.C. 422, 435-36, 709 S.E.2d 671, 678 (2011). Supplemental instructions given during deliberations allowed the jury to convict the defendant based on neglect. Id. The Court found this created a variance between the indictment and the proof because “the indictment apprised Bailey that he had to defend only against the allegation that he inflicted the physical injuries resulting in Victim’s death.” Id.