**RECEIVED**

**Mar 04 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Cherokee County  
The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2024-001941

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT

v.

BOBBIE JO BAYNARD

APPELLANT

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

BARRY BARNETTE  
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

TOMMY EVANS, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

### Discussion

Within her brief the Appellant argues that the mention of “willful” intent in the indictment means that the Appellant had to willfully have a specific intent to murder. Pursuant to South Carolina law, murder is a general intent crime. There is no element of murder to reveal that there must be a specific intent to kill in order to be convicted of murder. The reason for this is that under the murder statute, murder is the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied. S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-10 (1976). Appellant argues that the more proper offense would be homicide by child abuse. However, this court knows that this does not apply due to the fact the victim was over the age of 11.<sup>1</sup> This also does not apply because the State proved that the intentional lack of care given to the victim for months goes beyond neglect and was a total disregard for a human life, which is considered implied malice.

---

<sup>1</sup> A person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if the person: (1) causes the death of a child under the age of eleven while committing child abuse or neglect, and the death occurs under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life. S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-85(A)(1)(1976).

The Respondent argues that the willful element placed in the indictment is a factual element; therefore, something that must be decided by the jury and not by the court. This is because the death of the victim was caused by the willful inaction of the Appellant. The existence of evidence revealing that the Appellant failed to provide care or take her to receive much needed medical care was a willful act that caused the death of the victim. When evidence exists, the Appellant will not be entitled to a directed verdict.

Previous decisions relating to indictments pertained to what is not included in the indictment and not what has been included. *State v. Dent*, 446 S.C. 121, 919 S.E.2d 394 (an indictment only listing the commission of fellatio on the victim was subject to summary judgment when other forms of sexual assault were revealed but not listed within the indictments); *State v. Baker*, 411 S.C. 583, 769 S.E.2d 860 (2015)(The unspecified time over a six-year period rather over three summers as alleged in the original indictments were unconstitutionally overbroad and vague in violation of the Appellant's due process rights).

The Respondent also submits that there was sufficient evidence presented that the Appellant had a total disregard for a human life, which is considered implied malice. The State raised sufficient evidence to prove murder, the decision of the trial court to deny the motion for a directed verdict should be upheld.

In *State v. Mouzon*, the South Carolina Supreme Court defined malice as an essential element for murder. In *Mouzon*, the Supreme Court decided,

Although it may be fairly assumed there was no actual intent to kill or injure another, there is evidence of such recklessness and wantonness as to indicate a depravity of mind and disregard of human life, from which a jury could infer malice.

*State v. Mouzon*, 231 S.C. 655, 662, 99 S.E.2d 672, 675-76 (1957).

It was clear from the evidence that the Appellant lived in the house with her other family members. Each had an identical total disregard for human life. Anyone of them could have cared for the victim when she was sick or taken her to the doctor. However, each one of them, including the Appellant allowed this child to lie in her feces and urine for at least two months knowing that she could not properly take care of herself due to her physical ailments. As the South Carolina Supreme Court defined malice in *State v. Heyward*,

“It is a wicked condition of the heart. It is a wicked purpose. It is a performed purpose to do a wrongful act, without sufficient legal provocation; and in this case it would be an indication to do a wrongful act which resulted in death of this man without sufficient legal provocation, or just excuse or legal excuse. In its proper sense the term “malice” conveys the meaning of hatred, ill-will or hostility toward another. In its legal sense, however, as it is employed in the description of murder, it does not of necessity import ill-will toward the individual injured, but signifies rather a general malignant recklessness of the lives and safety of others, or a condition of the mind which shows a heart regardless of social duty and fatally bent on mischief; in other words, a malicious killing is where the act is done without legal justification, excuse, or extenuation, and malice has been frequently, substantially so defined as consisting of the intentional doing of a wrongful act toward another without legal justification or excuse.”

*State v. Heyward*, 197 S.C. 371, 15 S.E.2d 669, 671 (1941), quoting, *State v. Gallman*, 79 S.C. 229, 60 S.E. 682, 686 (1908).

In this case, it is clear that the malicious act was not an action but *inaction*. They allowed that child to lie in her feces and urine to the point that her skin was melting off her body, she had sores, roach and other insect bites, and a urinary tract infection so severe that the infection went to her lungs causing pneumonia. The sores on her body and the lack of skin caused infection that caused sepsis. Any of these ailments could have been easily avoided if proper hygiene had been administered to the victim. The Appellant knew the victim did not have the physical capabilities to perform these tasks herself. The Appellant could have also taken the victim to the doctor once these ailments presented themselves in order to have a doctor administer the proper medication and care to cure the victim of these curable ailments prior to them causing her death.

During the trial it was discovered that this family was getting paid by Axxcess Home Care for allowing the Appellant's son, Edward, to supposedly administer care to the victim. It is obvious with the lack of care and attention administered to this victim, that they were just collecting this money without doing the job. To them, this victim was just a means of making money and nothing else.

Dr. Marcia Parra who was found qualified as an expert in pediatric medicine also testified. (R. p. 275 l. 4-5). Dr. Parra was the victim's pediatrician. (R. p. 275 l. 11-13). Dr. Parra testified that she last saw the victim for an appointment on January 11, 2021. At that time the victim did not have all of these injuries. (R. p. 286 l. 10-12). Her office scheduled appointments on August 31, 2021, September 4, 2021, September 8, 2021, October 8, 2021, December 27, 2021, January 24, 2022, and February 22, 2022. The victim was not taken to any of these scheduled appointments. (R. p. 288 l. 12-25; p. 289 l. 1-4). The victim was instead brought into the hospital deceased on April 11, 2022. (R. p. 56 l. 22-24; p.70 l. 10-11). This abuse continued for at least fifteen months. Dr. Rose testified that the victim was lying in her feces and urine for at least two months. This defines a total disregard of human life especially for your own daughter. The jury should have been allowed to decide whether or not this should be considered murder. Since evidence was presented revealing a total disregard for the victim's life.

The Appellant argues that the indictment states that the actions of the Appellant "willfully" murdered the victim. It was up to the jury to decide if the State did not prove that the Appellant willfully caused the death of the victim, not the trial judge. This is because the trial judge must look at the existence of evidence and not its weight. In *State v. Gentry* the South Carolina Supreme Court outlined two remedies regarding elements that have been placed within indictments, *Gentry* states,

The indictment is the charge of the state against the defendant, the pleading by which he is informed of the fact, and the nature and scope of the accusation. When that indictment is presented, that accusation is made, that pleading filed, the accused has two courses of procedure open to him. He may question the propriety of the accusation, the manner in which it has been presented, the source from which it proceeds, and have these matters promptly and properly determined; or waiving them he may put in issue the truth of the accusation, and demand the judgment of his peers on the merits of the charge. If he omits the former, and chooses the latter, he ought not, when defeated on the latter – when found guilty of the crime charged, to be permitted to go back to the former and inquire as to the manner and means by which the charge was presented.

*State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 102, 610 S.E.2d 494, 500 (2005).

The Appellant states that within the indictment the State used the word “willful.” In the Appellant’s opinion, that meant the State was obligated to prove that the actions of the Appellant were with a willful intent to kill. That is a question of fact for a jury to decide, not a question of law that must be decided by the court. The court is not obligated to grant a motion for a directed verdict if the correct elements are placed within the indictment. It is the obligation of the State to prove these elements beyond a reasonable doubt to a jury. If there is the existence of any evidence that leads to the proof of elements within the indictment, a motion for a directed verdict must be subject to dismissal. This is due to the fact that under South Carolina law, the court in a directed verdict decision, must look at the existence of evidence and not its weight. The court must also look at the evidence most favorable to the non-moving party, which is the State.

Evidence was presented that showed there was a terrible lack of care by the Appellant that led to the death of the victim. Whether this was a willful act of murder must be determined by the jury and not the court. The State argued that these actions were a willful disregard for a human life which is implied malice, considered murder pursuant to South Carolina law. The willful inaction of the Appellant to care for the victim, take her to the doctor when she was obviously sick, led to

her death. It is up to the jury to decide if the state has proven all of the elements found within the indictment. The denial of the directed verdict was lawful and should be upheld by this court.

- 2. The trial court did not err in the denial of the motion for directed verdict raised by the Appellant when in looking at the existence of the evidence and not its weight, and in the light most favorable to the State, the evidence revealed that Appellant inflicted great bodily injury because the Appellant allowed the victim, an incapacitated minor to lie in her own urine and feces for over a two-month period directly causing victim to develop infections that ultimately killed her.**

### Relevant Facts

At the conclusion of the State's case, the Appellant made a motion for a directed verdict regarding the charge of infliction or allowing infliction of great bodily injury upon a child. Their argument was that the State failed to prove that the Appellant intentionally inflicted any bodily harm on the victim.

At the conclusion of the motion the trial court took a brief recess to research this matter and consider the arguments from both sides. At the conclusion of this recess the trial court made the following determination. For infliction, the trial court stated that the definition he found was, "to force someone to experience something very unpleasant or to cause something very unpleasant to be endured and also to cause something unpleasant to be endured." (R. p. 345 l. 11-14). The trial judge finally decided that the court does not weigh the evidence, that is for the jury to decide. (R. p. 345 l. 16-17). The trial court decided to follow the law, and view the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. (R. p. 345 l. 17-18). Because of this the trial judge decided to deny the motion for a directed verdict. (R. p. 345 l. 19-20).

### Standard of Review

In criminal cases the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence not its weight. *State v. Morgan*, 352 S.C. 359, 364, 574 S.E.2d 203, 205 (Ct. App. 2002). On appeal from the trial court of a motion for a directed verdict, the appellate court may only reverse the trial court if there is no evidence to support the trial court's ruling. *State v. Lindsey*, 355 S.C. 15, 20, 583 S.E.2d 740, 742 (2003). When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict at the trial level, the appellate court, "views the evidence and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the state." *State v. Bennett*, 415 S.C. 232, 235, 781 S.E.2d 352, 353 (2016). In criminal cases, the appellate court is bound by factual findings of the trial court unless an abuse of discretion is shown. *State v. Blackwell-Selim*, 392 S.C. 1, 3, 707 S.E.2d 426, 427 (2011). Trial court's decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion. *Mitchell Supply Co. v. Gaffney*, 297 S.C. 160, 162-63, 375 S.E.2d 321, 322-23 (Ct. App. 1988). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's order is controlled by an error of law or when there is no evidentiary support for the trial court's factual conclusions. *Stokes – Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 536, 787 S.E.2d 485, 495 (2016).

### Discussion

In his argument for a directed verdict, counsel for the Appellant argued that there are three elements to Section 16-3-85 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. The Appellant argued that the three elements are first, inflicting, second, great bodily injury and the third, is on a child. (R. p. 311 l. 3-6) The Appellant stated that they concede the second and third elements, however, they have an issue with the first element and that is inflicting. (R. p. 311 l. 7-10). The Respondent

argues that the trial court made the correct decision by denying a directed verdict. There was sufficient evidence that revealed that care was actively withheld thereby inflicting great bodily injury.

Websters dictionary defines infliction as the act of inflicting. And inflicting is defined as to cause (something unpleasant) to be endured. “Inflict” *Merriam-Webster.com Dictionary*, Merriam-Webster, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary>. Accessed 14 Dec. 2025. There was sufficient evidence that revealed the Appellant was living in the house while care was not given to the victim for months. There is no evidence that she was unaware that the victim was incapacitated. There was evidence that she was the one that took her to the hospital after she was deceased. Appellant’s refusal to do anything to assist before death such as, call 911, or take the victim for care or aid should be considered an intentional infliction of great bodily injury to a child.

There was testimony that the Baynards got their son Edward to be the victim’s personal care aid, and with that, Edward would be paid a salary by Axxcess Home Care. (R. p. 159 l. 4-13; p. 176 l. 19 – p. 179 l. 7). Even though they were given a list of providers they still decided to choose their own son. (R. p. 202 l. 10-13). During this time, Edward was paid twenty-thousand seven hundred eighty-eight dollars (\$20, 788.00) for caregiving he was supposed to be giving the victim. (R. p. 264 l. 20-25). The entire family accepted that money. The Appellant never notified Axxcess Home Care that the victim was not being properly cared for. Also, when the child was dying, Appellant did nothing to save her, that is the infliction of great bodily injury, by choosing not to do anything to save this child.

During testimony of the emergency room nurse Amy Vinesett, she stated that while talking to Appellant, she showed no emotion towards her dead child. (R. p. 61 l. 2-4; l. 21-22). During her testimony, Dr. Rose stated that the victim died from either a urinary tract infection or pneumonia

due to having numerous infections from lying in her urine and feces for over two months. The victim's death could have been prevented if the Appellant had kept her clean and had taken her to a doctor when she was sick. During her testimony Dr. Rose explained the victim's death was from complications of acute chronic medical neglect. The victim was also allowed to suffer greatly prior to her death, all of which could have been prevented. (R. p. 251 l. 24 – p. 252 l. 5).

The inaction by the Appellant in failing to care for her daughter, leaving her to lie in her feces and urine until she died was the infliction that this statute defines.

The ruling by the trial judge was correct. In a directed verdict motion the court cannot be concerned with the weight of evidence, it must only be concerned with its existence. The South Carolina rules of Criminal Procedure specifically state:

On motion of the defendant or on its own motion, the court shall direct a verdict in the defendant's favor on any offense charged in the indictment after the evidence on either side is closed, if there is a failure of competent evidence tending to prove the charge in the indictment. In ruling on the motion, the trial judge shall consider only the existence or non-existence of the evidence and not its weight.

Rule 19, SCRCrimP.

If evidence of guilt exists, whether it is direct or circumstantial, and that evidence is properly presented and allowed into evidence by the trial court, the determination of the jury as to innocence or guilt should not be taken away. The trial court made the correct decision in denying Appellant a directed verdict on this matter since there was sufficient evidence for the jury to make the final determination.

The trial judge is not responsible for making a decision as to the weight of evidence that was presented, the jury is to judge the questions of fact, not the court. So, the decision of the trial judge in denying Appellant the motion for a directed verdict was not in error. This decision should be upheld.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

TOMMY EVANS, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 65282

BARRY BARNETTE  
Seventh Circuit Solicitor